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The City of

June 26, 2020

To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the City Council and Citizens of the
City of Liberty, Missouri

Management Responsibility

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the City of Liberty, Missouri (the City), for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, is hereby submitted for your review. This report was prepared by
the Finance Department in close cooperation with the external auditor, BKD, LLP. The responsibility
for the accuracy of the presented data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including
all disclosures, rests with the City. We believe the data, as presented, is accurate in all material
aspects, that it is presented in a manner designed to fairly set forth the financial activity of its various
funds and that all disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain the maximum understanding of
the City’s financial affairs have been included. Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)
immediately follows the independent auditor’s report and provides a narrative introduction, overview
and analysis of the basic financial statements. This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the
MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it.

The Financial Reporting Entity

This report is prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally in conformance with the
standards of financial reporting set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB),
and the guidelines recommended by the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA). This
financial report includes all the funds of the City. The City provides a full range of services including
police and fire protection; emergency medical services; water and sanitation services; traffic regulation
and municipal court services; construction and maintenance of highways, streets, and bridges;
recreational activities and cultural events.

Accounting Controls

Management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control designed to
ensure that the assets of the government are protected from loss, theft or misuse and to ensure that
adequate accounting data are compiled to allow for the preparation of financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The internal
control is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these objectives are met.
The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that (1) the cost of control should not exceed the
benefits to be derived, and (2) the valuation of costs and benefits require estimates and judgments by
management.



The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered to be a
separate accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for by providing a separate set
of self-balancing accounts, which comprise its assets, liabilities, equities, revenues and expenditures or
expenses. The various funds are grouped by type in the basic financial statements.

Accounting records for the City’s general governmental operations are maintained on an accrual basis
with the revenues being recorded when measurable and available, and expenditures being recorded
when the liability is incurred. The City’s accounting records for proprietary funds are also maintained
on the accrual basis.

Budgetary Controls

The city administrator and the assistant city administrator/finance director are responsible for the
annual preparation of a budget for the upcoming fiscal year based on estimated revenues and projected
service level needs. The major focus of the budget is preparation of a financing plan based on available
resources. The revenue forecast identifies the various revenue sources to be used in funding municipal
services and forecasts the amount of revenue to be produced. City service levels are then established
based on the revenue forecast.

The formal budget document is reviewed by the City Council and is formally adopted by the passage of
a budget ordinance each December with the budget to become effective on January 1 of the next year.
Once adopted, the finance department monitors the budget on a monthly basis. Operating and Capital
budgets are monitored on a department or fund level basis. Under this form of budget control, an
individual division or department may exceed budgeted amounts for that division or department so
long as the fund as a whole does not exceed budgeted funds. Any expenditure that will cause a fund to
exceed the total fund budget must be approved by the City Council through a budget amendment
ordinance.

Government Structure

Liberty was first settled in 1822 and in 1829 presented a petition to the Clay County Court requesting
incorporation so that the citizens could be self-governing. On May 7, 2004, Liberty celebrated the
175th anniversary of that incorporation.

In 1851, Liberty was incorporated as a special charter city. That charter was amended in 1861 and,
with few exceptions, provides the form of government enjoyed today. The City has operated under a
council-administrator form of government since 1964.

Policymaking and legislative authority are vested in the City Council, which consists of a mayor and an
eight-member council. The City Council is responsible for, among other things, passing ordinances,
adopting the annual budget, appointing committees, hiring the City administrator, and approving the
appointment of department heads. The Council also has the power by state statute to extend its
corporate limits by annexation, which is done when deemed appropriate by the Council. The Council is
elected on a nonpartisan basis. Council members are elected to four-year staggered terms with four
council members elected every two years. The City is divided into four council wards, with two
members in each ward. One Council member from each ward is up for election every two years. The
Mayor is elected to a two-year term. The City Council meets on the second and fourth Monday of each
month in regular session and on the first and third Monday in “study or work session.”

The City administrator is responsible for carrying out the policies and ordinances of the City Council,
overseeing the day-to-day operations of the City, and, subject to confirmation by the Council,
appointing the heads of the various City departments.
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Economic Condition And Outlook

The City of Liberty is a suburb located, 15 miles northeast of downtown Kansas City, Missouri
encompassing approximately 29 square miles with a population of about 30,000 people. In the first
century of its existence, the City experienced moderate growth and development. In recent years,
Liberty has become part of the mainstream of urban expansion along the Interstate 35 corridor running
north and south along the west boundaries of Liberty, as well as the Highway 152 corridor to the west.
Highway 291 is another main north/south corridor through the City. Additional demographic and
economic information is included in the Statistical Section of this report.

The City of Liberty is home to William Jewell College. Founded in 1849 as the first four-year men’s
college west of the Mississippi when a charter was granted by the Missouri legislature, it is now a
nationally recognized co-ed, liberal arts college. The regional area is served by Liberty Hospital, which
has emerged as a major health care provider in the metropolitan Kansas City area since its inception in
the 1970s. The Liberty School District, recipient of numerous awards for excellence, serves a
population of 66,000 and is 85 square miles of Clay County, which includes the entire City of Liberty,
as well as sections of Kansas City North.

In 2009, Money Magazine named Liberty as one of the nation’s best places to live. Twenty-ninth on
their list of America’s best small towns, Money Magazine commented on Liberty’s clean, tree-lined
college town atmosphere with historical districts and buildings listed on the National Register of
Historic places. In 2011, this declaration was further validated by Family Circle Magazine listing
Liberty as the third Best Towns and Cities for Families, Money Magazine/CNN ranking Liberty as the
seventh Best Places to Live and being sixth on Missouri Life Top 10 Town list.

The Downtown Reconstruction project was completed in 2017. This project included improvements and
enhancements to the current streetscape along with the replacement of more than 2,200 feet of water
lines and 1,000 feet of sewer lines. It also included enhancements to pedestrian amenities as part of
the revitalization of our Historic Downtown. More than 120 businesses located in the downtown area,
including both retail and other business uses, will benefit from the completion of this project, by
providing a more welcoming and pedestrian friendly atmosphere.

Liberty has six shopping centers located along major highways within the City. Other area industry
consists of printing, metal fabrication, auto parts assembly, paperboard manufacturing, industrial
wholesale and retail distribution. The 10 principal employers within the City are listed in the
Statistical Section of this report.

Single family residential lots continue to be approved and constructed. Several new subdivisions have
completed the necessary public improvements, subdivided into lots, and have begun building new
single family homes. Homestead of Liberty, a new residential subdivision is under construction and
has added 126 lots to the southern portion of town. Homestead Hills, with 121 single family lots was
approved for the area south of Homestead is currently under construction. Riverwood, an infill site off
of Conistor Street, has 22 maintenance provided lots. Timber Ridge is an in-fill project with 13
mission/craftsman style homes; Creekwood is a 12 lot continuation of an existing TND style
neighborhood. Lillian Hills, is adding 35 single family homes as an extension of the Liberty Manor
subdivision. At the end of 2018, the City Council approved a rezoning to allow a new 52 lot subdivision,
Ella’s Crossing, on the east portion of town near William Jewell College. All five of these subdivision
projects are currently under construction.

Multi-family projects continue to add a diversity of housing options to our community. Construction is
complete on a 292 unit luxury apartment complex close to 291 Highway and a 48 unit senior housing
project along Lightburne Road. And construction has begun on a 153 unit senior living community on
Wither's and Kent. A 204 unit market-rate apartment complex, a 191 unit senior housing complex, and
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a 38 unit project in the historic downtown area were additional multi-family projects approved since
2016.

The Liberty Hospital Healthy Living Community, Norterre, consisting of 22 acres in the north part of
the city near Liberty Hospital, is a mixed-use development which began construction in 2016. The
project is a mix of residential and a health center to serve those residents and community. The
residential components include a four-story long term and short term skilled nursing facility, a six-
story assistant living building with dedicated space for memory care units and a two-story Healthy
Living Community Center.

In 2017, the community experienced a growth in Retail Development. Initiated in earlier years
through a tax incremental financing plan, the City has four major retail project areas (Liberty Triangle,
Roger’s Plaza, Blue Jay Crossing and Liberty Commons) that are continuing to build out. In 2018, Blue
Jay Crossing will see the addition of a new, a state of the art, expanded movie complex owned by B&B
Theaters. B & B Theaters is relocating from an older shopping center within the community. In 2014,
a new TIF District was created at the location of the former Sears/Kmart center called Liberty
Commons. The City partnered with RED Legacy to complete Liberty Commons, a 270,000 square foot
retail and restaurant shopping center that will also include a 110 room hotel and specialty grocery
store. Construction completed in 2018 with over 98% leased; the complex is forecasted to generate
$65M in new retails sales for the City. Further, North Haven Center, a newly created 7.5 acre
commercial center on 291 Highway, gained approval in 2015 for 3 hotels, all of which are under
construction and anticipated to be open in 2020.

As a result of the City’s incentive programs, Ford Stamping Plant completed construction in 2012 and
was fully operational by the end of 2013; since then the plant has expanded twice including a 40,000 sq
ft addition and a 357,000 sq ft addition that is now under construction. LMV Automotive Systems, a
supplier to Ford, has also completed construction on their 212,000 square foot facility and completed a
250,000 square foot expansion to accommodate a GM auto supply contract. Holland, unfortunately,
moved to another location; however the building has since been leased to Dakota Bodies. Dakota
Bodies is an assembler of box add-ons to work trucks. An additional 400 jobs are expected to come to
the Liberty Hallmark Distribution center as a result of consolidation. Combined, these plants will
provide a total of 1,300 new jobs to the City.

The City’s first speculative industrial project is now under construction. Over 900,000 sq ft within
three industrial buildings is located in the southern part of the City at 69 Hwy and South Liberty
Parkway. The development also includes approximately 28,000 sq ft of retail space.

The City worked with the Liberty Economic Development Corporation and the State of Missouri to
designate an area within the City as a Certified Site. This will allow additional land for industrial and
manufacturing development.

Building permit activity for the past 10 years is detailed in the Statistical Section.

The City approved a Chapter 353 Tax Abatement program for the downtown commercial district as
well as a program for the surrounding residential area. The program has resulted in over $1.5 million
Investment in the commercial area and over $ 1.6 million in the residential district.

Binding the efforts of economic development, the City has previously developed and continues to
implement a number of economic planning tools as resources allow. The Blueprint for Liberty Future
Land Use Plan provides the direction for the growth and development of the community. The plan
identifies the major goals and policies of the City Council relative to City services and infrastructure
required to meet the demands of a growing city, while ensuring quality development and maintaining
Liberty’s special community character. The comprehensive plan addresses future land use, major
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street planning, parks and open space, and storm water management. The plan was amended in June
2006 to include the South Liberty Parkway Corridor Study, which was updated in 2016. This study has
components that will assist the City as it considers future roadway projects, land use proposals, or
economic development throughout the corridor. Also included are the Public Utilities/Facilities Plan,
which identifies the system requirements for sanitary sewer, water distribution and fire protection
services and a Street Master Plan which identifies the roadway network for future development
activity. The City recently finalized the Parks and Recreation Trail System Plan.

Long-Term Financial Planning

Fiscal Year 2019 proved to be a promising year on the economic front. The City believes its revenue
base within the General Fund is showing not only stabilization, but also providing growth opportunities
within the Property, Sales Tax and Use Tax categories. This has allowed the City to provide modest
employee adjustments, which is a positive occurrence. However, as of the date of this transmittal
letter, the City is living amongst unprecedented times regarding the Novel Covid-19 Pandemic. City
staff has put a lot of focus and effort into what the nationwide shut down looks like for Liberty. In mid-
March, City staff began looking at all revenue generating accounts and made an initial 9.1% overall
decrease in forecasted revenues when compared to what was originally budgeted for 2020. As we
continue to navigate through 2020, staff will continue to focus efforts on revenues and expenditures and
continue to be focused on cost containment and sustainability efforts in order to meet fiscal priorities
and service requirements to its residents and further prepare the City for long-term financial health
and stability.

For several years, the General Fund has been subject to significant turnover in its Public Safety
departments, which caused an increase in overtime costs. These increases resulted in overall costs
exceeding those respective budgets. This turnover was caused by uncompetitive salaries in the Public
Safety sector when compared to other comparable cities. To help combat this problem, Liberty voters
approved a %-cent Public Safety Sales Tax in April of 2017. In 2019, the Public Safety Sales Tax
(PSST) generated $2.7 million and supported $2.1 million in salary and non-salary expenditures within
the public safety divisions. In 2016, the City made the commitment to maintain its historical 2016
expenditure base for Public Safety current salaries; this is a commitment that the city will continue to
maintain in future years.

Franchise Fee revenues are considered one of the Big 3 revenue producers for Liberty. In 2019, the
City saw a slight increase in revenues when compared to what was forecasted for 2019. When
comparing 2019 franchise fee revenues to the franchise fee revenue received in 2018, the City saw a
$0.228 million decrease. The City continues to experience declines with in the Telephone (landline),
Cable TV (more people streaming shows) and Cell phone (primarily shift from voice and text to more
data usage) franchise fees. This is a concern that will continue to be monitored by city staff in 2020 and
years beyond.

In 2015, the State of Missouri implemented state-wide controls on how local municipal courts can issue
tickets and collect associated fines. This has resulted in Court fines coming in less than budget since
2015. Further State actions were implemented in 2016 and 2017. It appears that 2019 court revenues
began leveling out for the first time since the 2015 changes were implemented. The City will continue
to make adjustments for these State mandates in future years and have been accounted for in the 2020
budget.

In 2018, the City sought voter approval on the implementation of a Use Tax at the rate of Liberty
current City Sales Tax Rate of 3.375%. The Use Tax appeared on the ballot in April 2018 and Liberty
voters approved the tax with 70% of voters voting yes. Year end 2019, marked the first full year of
collection for the Use Tax and for 2019 it generated $2.1 million in revenue. City staff took a more
conservative approach for 2020 and forecasted the Use Tax generating about $2.0 million in revenue.
The revenues generated from the Use Tax are used to help pay for a brand new; state of the art animal
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shelter. The new shelter has a building footprint projected to be 7,297 square feet. Our current shelter
is 1,245 square feet. Building a larger facility will allow for several amenities for citizens to enjoy; but
most importantly it will allow for an increase in adoptions and will provide an enriching/safe
environment for all animals housed within the shelter. The total cost for this shelter is projected to be
$2.66M. The shelter is projected to be complete by August 2020.

Along with the animal shelter project, the Liberty Parks and Recreation department is planning
multiple projects associated with the Use Tax in an estimated amount of $3.5 million. The areas
identified with these dollars are; Liberty City Park - $2 million, Liberty Community Center - $700,000
and 10 Neighborhood Parks - $800,000. The Liberty City Park project will include an inclusive
playground, splash pad, restrooms, trails, parking lots, shelters, along with infrastructure associated
with such projects. The Liberty Community Center project will include a new indoor/outdoor fitness
space, a family restroom, and outdoor pool zip line. The 10 Neighborhood Parks will be upgraded based
on the neighbor’s feedback during the neighborhood meetings. Some examples of these projects
include; shade structure, pour-in-place surfacing, swings, playgrounds, water fountains, pickle ball
courts, and new park signs.

Due to the need to treat the fiscal condition as an ongoing interactive process, staff develops and shares
fiscal forecasts with the Budget Committee on a regular basis. This committee was formed in 2009 to
better facilitate elected official communication and coordination. A number of meetings and work
sessions were held with the Budget Committee/City Council during 2019 to keep Council informed on
revenue trends and to partner with Council on prioritizing any additionally required expenditure
adjustments. The City is continuing these processes in fiscal year 2020.

The City of Liberty developed long-term financial planning models for all of its major funds. These
planning tools extend for a 20-year period, with the first 5 years of the forecasts being the element that
establishes Council spending priorities. Capital/infrastructure financial forecasting is segmented into
near-term and long-term models. Utility enterprise operating requirements are supported by a
forecasting model developed by consultants used to establish annual user rate assessments. General
Fund and Parks Fund models were finalized in 2013 and presented to the full Council during a
strategic planning retreat. In 2013, the City formally adopted a fund balance policy that requires the
maintenance of a General Fund unassigned fund balance range of 18% to 22%, a 12% Parks Fund
balance, a minimum of $1.0M to be held in the CIP funds, and utility funds are to maintain a minimum
45-day unrestricted cash reserve. These planning models and policy guidance have been used in 2019 to
better predict long-term implications of budgetary decisions. The City Council is committed to
maintain the long-term wviability of city operations and services to the community through effective
fiscal planning.

In 2019, Staff and the Budget Committee began working updating the debt management policy. The
updated debt management policy will be implemented in early 2020. Staff and Budget Committee will
continue working on and revising the current investment policy that will provide Council direction on
these important operating elements.

Major Initiatives

The City continues to work with its community partners at The Liberty Chamber of Commerce and the
Liberty Economic Development Corporation to make long-term investments for the public good.
Complementing these efforts, the City’s Economic Development Manager has focused on business
development and retention. The City is making efforts to position itself in the expanding field of
science and technology development, with priority on advanced automotive supply services, and has
approved selective tax incentive policies to assist in these endeavors.

Attached to the economic development initiatives, Liberty has partnered with the City of Kansas City,
Missouri and the Missouri Department of Transportation to implement major interstate intersection
rehabilitation projects. 2019 witnessed the near completion of the reconstruction of the I35/Kansas
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Street/M291 corridor and marks the third major reconstruction and improvements of interchanges that
access Interstate I35. The M291/I35 project was completed in 2013 and the Pleasant Valley
Interchange project was completed in 2017. The projects have improved the connectivity of Liberty to
Interstate 35 and allow for additional traffic that will accompany additional development.

In 2018, available funds in the Economic Development Sales Tax Fund were used to finalize South
Liberty Parkway Phase II. This project was completed and South Liberty Parkway Phase II was opened
in September 2018. Now that this project is complete, this road system will link Interstate 35 on the
west to Missouri Highway 291 on the east. This improvement, coupled with above mentioned items,
will open up southern Liberty to significant development opportunities.

In 2019, these partnerships continued with the construction commencement and significant completion
of the I35/Kansas Street/M291 corridor. This project was approved in 2018 and construction began in
April of 2019. The Kansas Street Project is estimated to cost $27.4M in which the City is responsible
for paying $5.8M of these costs. These costs will be paid for through the Economic Development Sales
Tax Fund. MODOT is paying $14.1M and $1.5M coming from the City of Kansas City. The remaining
$6.0M is coming from grant (STP) funds received from MARC. This project is a MODOT managed
project and is projected to be complete by August 2020.

As with every year, a significant amount of time was spent completing the 2019 Water and Sewer Fund
budgets. Several years back the City Council decided that it was appropriate to secure advice and
guidance from knowledgeable Liberty residents in the form of a taskforce. The taskforce met for a 12-
week period and offered recommendations to the City Council. Some of the recommendations accepted
by Council were to address aging water meters, repair and replace existing infrastructure, and take
over water treatment operations of the water plant. One significant recommendation was to study the
economics of building and operating a Liberty wastewater treatment plant.

In November 2013, the City secured voter approval of the construction of our own Wastewater
Treatment Facility. Citizens of Liberty were asked to approve the issuance of up to $95,000,000 in
sewer revenue bonds to allow for the separation of Liberty from the Kansas City treatment system.
This was approved by over 90% of the voters.

The City was awarded federally subsidized low interest loan capacity through the Missouri Department
of Natural Resources State Revolving Loan Program. This program is anticipated to save the City up
to $40 million in interest expenses and will further enhance the economics associated with building and
operating a Liberty owned wastewater treatment plant. In early 2017, the construction of the facility
was complete and fully operational treating all Liberty wastewater with the exception of a few homes.
In 2019, Liberty paid $144,000 to the City of Kansas City for the areas not treated by Liberty.

In 2019, the City had roughly $1.5M in wastewater treatment expenses and $2.5M in financing costs
related to the sewer treatment plant construction, when comparing this to 2016, while the City of
Kansas City was still treating Liberty’s wastewater; Liberty would spend close to $5.9M in wastewater
treatment expenses. With the opening of the Liberty owned and operated waste water treatment plant
in 2017 the City has seen substantial savings in annual expenses.

The City initiated the implementation phase of an Automated Meter Infrastructure (AMI) project in
2019 with the end goal to replace outdated water meter infrastructure in the distribution system. AMI
will provide the ability to remotely read meters and eliminate human error and estimations. The City
completed the installation of radio communication infrastructure necessary to communicate with the
automated meters and installation of 2,153 automated meters in 2019. This total cost for the AMI
project is estimated to be $4.5M, which was borrowed with Special Obligation Bonds in 2018, and will
be split between water and sewer funds. The project is expected to be completed in 2020.
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Efficiency and effectiveness are two key measures utilized by the Utilities Department to improve
operations. A feasibility study was completed in 2018 that verified that utilization of hydrated lime in
lieu of quicklime would improve the water softening process at the water treatment plant. A design
contract was executed in 2019 with an engineering firm to complete construction documents for the
replacement of the existing lime silo with a new lime silo that will provide redundant hydrated lime
feed capabilities. The project will be bid and constructed in 2020 and is expected to cost $530,000.

Other Information
Independent Audit

City policy requires an annual audit to be made of financial statements of the various funds. The
independent certified public accounting firm of BKD, LLP audited the financial statements contained in
this report for the year ended December 31, 2019. The auditor’s report on the basic financial
statements is included in the financial section of this report.

Certificate Of Achievement

The GFOA awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of
Liberty, Missouri for its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2018. The Certificate of Achievement of Excellence in Financial Reporting recognizes
conformance with the highest standards for preparation of state and local government financial reports.

In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an easily
readable and efficiently organized CAFR, whose contents conform to program standards established by
the GFOA. Such CAFR must satisfy both accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. The City of Liberty, Missouri has
received a Certificate of Achievement consecutively since December 1986. We believe our current
report continues to conform to the Certificate of Achievement program requirements and is being
submitted to the GFOA for review.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
Liberty, Missouri

Report On The Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the
City of Liberty, Missouri (the City) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic
financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for The Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions.

QPRAXITY



The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City as of
December 31, 2019, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable,
cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison and pension and other
postemployment benefit information listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement
the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information
for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The Combining and Individual Fund
Statements and Schedules, Introductory Section and Statistical Section, as listed in the table of
contents, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic
financial statements.
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The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council

The Combining and Individual Fund Statements and Schedules are the responsibility of
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the Combining and
Individual Fund Statements and Schedules are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to
the basic financial statements as a whole.

The introductory section and statistical section have not been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 26,
2020, on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion
on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report is an integral part of an audit perfomed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering the City’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

BED L

Kansas City, Missouri
June 26, 2020
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
December 31, 2019

We offer those interested in the financial statements for the City of Liberty, Missouri (the City) this
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2019 with selected comparative information for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2018. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in
conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal, which
can be found in the introductory section of this report.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

e The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources at the close of the fiscal year by $71,710,901 (net position). Of the
assets that may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and
creditors (unrestricted net position), the City had a deficit amount of $28,141,812. This
is predominately due to the recording of certain Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) debt
obligations in which the City must record the debt liability, but has no offsetting assets.

e The City’s total net position increased by $7,523,061. Of this amount, $4,810,125 was from
the City’s “governmental activities” and $2,712,936 was from the “business-type activities.”
The majority of the “governmental activities” increase is due to the increase revenues
attributable to voter approval in 2018 of a Use Tax. The majority of the “business type
activities” increase is due to the operation of our Wastewater Treatment Facility and
commitments to make necessary rate adjustments.

e As of the close of this current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined
ending fund balances of $27,819,536; a decrease of $641,713 in comparison with the prior
year. This decrease is primarily due to planned draw down of certain City Capital Funds
applicable to road infrastructure projects.

e Approximately $4,533,029 (16.3%) of the combined governmental fund balances of
$27,819,536 is available for spending at the government’s discretion (unassigned fund
balance).

e At the end of the current fiscal year, total fund balance for the General Fund was
$5,277,437 or approximately 27.2% percent of total General Fund revenues.

e The City had a net decrease in debt totaling $3,736,278 during the current fiscal year.
Additions to debt including bond premiums totaled $4,998,143. This increase was
offset by 2019 retirements of $8,734,421. This decrease in debt is primarily
attributable to the pay down of the Series 2015 TIF debt. The 2018 Special Obligation
Bonds will provide support for various capital projects throughout the City, including
the construction of a new animal shelter, enhancements/improvements to neighborhood
parks and community center, provide funding for the 135/M152/M291 Projects and total
replacement of our water meters throughout the City.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial
statements. The City’s basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-wide
financial statements; 2) fund financial statements; and 3) notes to the financial statements.
This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial
statements.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The government-wide financial statements include the statement of net position and the statement
of activities. These statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the
City’s finances in a manner similar to a private-sector business. Both government and
business-type activities are included in this analysis of government-wide financial statements.

The statement of net position presents information on all of the City’s assets, deferred outflow
of resources, liabilities and deferred inflow of resources, with the difference between the sum of
assets and deferred outflow of resources minus the sum of liabilities and the inflow of
resources is reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may
serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or
deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net position
changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the
underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in
cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned, but unused, vacation leave).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from
other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user
fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the City include
general government, public safety, public works, culture and recreation, cemetery
maintenance, and community development and improvement. The business-type activities of
the Cityinclude water, sewer and sanitation.

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (known as the primary
government), but also a legally separate entity, the Liberty, Missouri Public Facilities Authority
(PFA), for which the Cityis financially accountable. The PFA, although legally separate, functions
for all practical purposes as a department of the City and, therefore, has been included in the PFA
Fund and the PFA Construction Fund because of its significant operational or financial relationship
with the City.

Fund Financial Statements

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have
been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local
governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related
legal requirements. All of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories:
governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds.

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term
inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available
at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-
term financing requirements.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By
doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term
financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund
statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to
facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The City maintains a total of 45 individual governmental funds. Information is presented
separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of
revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances for the General Fund, Parks Fund, Liberty
TIF Fund and the Economic Development Sales Tax fund, all of which are considered to be major
funds. Data from the other governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated
presentation. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is provided in
the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.

Proprietary Funds

The City maintains one type of proprietary fund. Enterprise funds are used to report the same
functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The
City maintains 3 enterprise funds. Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as
the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail. The proprietary fund financial
statements provide separate information for the Water Fund and Sewer Fund as these are
considered to be major funds of the City. Data from the other enterprise fund, the Sanitation Fund,
is in a single presentation as it is the only non-major fund.

Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the
government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements
because the resources of those funds are not available to support the City’s own programs. The
accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. The City has 1
type of fiduciary fund: Agency Fund.

Notes To Basic Financial Statements

The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data
provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

OtherInformation

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents

certain required supplementary information concerning the City’s budgetary comparison schedules.

The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with non-major governmental funds are
presented immediately following the required supplementary information.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Government-Wide Financial Analysis

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial
position. In the case of the City, assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities
and deferred inflows of resourcesby $71,710,901 at the close of the fiscal year ended December 31,
2019. Thefollowingtable reflects a condensed statement of net position.

Net Position

Governmental Business-Type Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Activities Activities
2019 2019 Total 2019 2018 2018 Total 2018
Current and other assets 39,113,231 $ 21,151,969 $ 60,265,200 $ 38,933,233 $ 19,853,193 58,786,426
Capital assets, net 96,485,012 128,461,315 224,946,327 90,452,724 129,904,824 220,357,548
Total Assets 135,598,243 149,613,284 285,211,527 129,385,957 149,758,017 279,143,974
Deferred Outflows Of Resources 3,258,787 400,947 3,659,734 2,727,151 356,711 3,083,862
Current liabilities 10,811,619 6,476,649 17,288,268 8,697,459 6,408,655 15,106,114
Noncurrent liabilities 107,465,023 83,235,139 190,700,162 107,847,018 86,072,668 193,919,686
Total Liabilities 118,276,642 89,711,788 207,988,430 116,544,477 92,481,323 209,025,800
Deferred Inflows Of Resources 8,908,985 262,945 9,171,930 8,707,353 306,843 9,014,196
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 46,617,054 43,001,812 89,618,866 47,276,514 41,596,924 88,873,438
Restricted 7,459,414 2,774,433 10,233,847 6,959,443 2,553,942 9,513,385
Unrestricted (deficit) (42,405,065) 14,263,253 (28,141,812) (47,374,679) 13,175,696 (34,198,983)
Total Net Position 11,671,403 $ 60,039,498 $ 71,710,901 $ 6,861,278 $ 57,326,562 64,187,840

The City’s combined net position increased by $7.5 million in 2019 from $64.2 million in 2018 to
$71.7 million. This favorable activity is primarily found within the Governmental Activities ($4.8
million) and is primarily attributable to an increase in general government revenues and operating
with revenues received. The increase in the City’s Business-Type Activities ($2.7 million) is directly
attributable to continued efficiencies resulting from the operation of a City owned wastewater
treatment plant compared to prior year’s processes of contractual sewer treatment and positive
activities of the Water Fund.

An additional portion of the City’s net position of $10.3 million or 14.27% of the total net position
represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used. The total
unrestricted net position resulted in a deficit of $28.1 million, representing a decrease in the deficit
of $6.1 million when compared to 2018. This is predominately due to the recording of certain TIF
debt obligations in which the City must record the debt liability, but has no offsetting assets.

By far, the largest portion of the City’s net position, $89.6 million reflects its net investment in
capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery and equipment), less any related debt used to
acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to provide services
to citizens. Consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City’s
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources
needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources since the capital assets themselves
cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

The City’s $71.7 million in net position is comprised of $89.6 million of net investment in capital
assets; a restricted net position of $10.2 million that can be used for capital projects, debt service
and other purposes, and a deficit of $28.1 million in unrestricted net position. Total net position
increased by $7.5 reflecting 11.7% growth during the current fiscal year.

The following table reflects the changes in net position of the City’s activities for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018:

City Of Liberty’s Changes In Net Position

Governmental Business-Type Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Activities Activities
2019 2019 Total 2019 2018 2018 Total 2018
Revenues:

Program revenues:
Charges for services $ 3,563,893 $ 17,072,834 $ 20,636,727 $ 4,854,762 $ 16,664,365 $ 21,519,127
Operating grants and contributions 415,055 - 415,055 730,181 - 730,181
Capital grants and contributions 561,554 3,744 565,298 2,030,070 1,471,690 3,501,760

General revenues:
Property taxes 7,406,240 . 7,406,240 7,201,489 . 7,201,489
Franchise taxes 3,366,963 - 3,366,963 3,595,312 - 3,595,312
Sales and use taxes 23,895,616 - 23,895,616 22,269,931 - 22,269,931
Other taxes 1,594,749 - 1,594,749 1,539,399 - 1,539,399
Investment earnings 574,788 498,840 1,073,628 446,801 337,985 784,786
Other 2,525,761 320,064 2,845,825 1,478,632 137,523 1,616,155
Total Revenues 43,904,619 17,895,482 61,800,101 44,146,577 18,611,563 62,758,140

Expenses:

General government 5,659,671 - 5,659,671 5,841,114 - 5,841,114
Community development and improvement 3,266,439 - 3,266,439 3,353,557
Public works 7,611,046 - 7,611,046 - 7,162,689
Culture and recreation 5,528,286 - 5,528,286 5,285,780 - 5,285,780
Cemetery maintenance 58,292 - 58,292 46,984 - 46,984
Public safety 12,953,549 - 12,953,549 12,614,311 - 12,614,311
Interest on long-term debt 4,017,211 - 4,017,211 4,197,840 - 4,197,840
Water H 5,829,288 5,829,288 - 5,668,706 5,668,706
Sewer H 7,593,886 7,593,886 - 7,457,999 7,457,999
Sanitation - 1,759,372 1,759,372 - 1,675,094 1,675,094
Total Expenses 39,094,494 15,182,546 54,277,040 38,502,275 14,801,799 53,304,074
Change In Net Position 4,810,125 2,712,936 7,523,061 5,644,302 3,809,764 9,454,066
Net position, beﬁinnin of year 6,861,278 57,326,562 64,187,840 1,216,976 53,516,798 54,733,774
Net position, end of year $ 11,671,403 $ 60,039,498 $ 71,710,901 $ 6,861,278 $ 57,326,562 $ 64,187,840
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Governmental Activities

Governmental Activities increased the City’s total net position by $4,810,125 accounting for 64% of
the total 2019 increase in the total net position of the City. This increase is primarily attributable to
an increase revenues in sales/use taxes, property taxes, other taxes, investment earnings and other
general revenues along with management operating within forecasted revenues and controlling
expenses.

Overall, general revenues applicable to Governmental Activities for 2019 increased by
$2,832,553 to $39,364,117 and represents a 7.7% increase from the prior year. Property taxes
totaled $7,406,240 which was an increase of $204,751 predominantly due to greater
collectability of personal property taxes and increase valuations attributable to commercial
retail property adding to the tax roll. Preliminary 2020 information shows an increase in 2019
valuation in the amount of $58 million, which will speak to additional collections. City
franchise fees actually saw a decrease of $228,349 to $3,366,963. For year ended 2019, the
City continues to see declines in cell phone and cable franchise fee revenue. Sales and use tax
revenue increased by $1,625,685 to $23,895,616 and is attributable to retail growth and the
opening of Liberty Commons Shopping district and inclusion on a full year collection of
revenues from the new Use Tax Sales Tax that was voter approved in April 2018. Charges for
services decreased by $1,290,869 in 2019 for total revenues of $3,563,893.

Governmental activities expenses increased $592,219 for the 2019 fiscal year when compared
to 2018. The increase is attributable to the City implementation of a 3% salary adjustment
and other compensation related items that impacted all Governmental Funds.

The following table reflects the revenues by source for the City’s governmental activities for the
year ended December 31, 2019.

Investment earnings,
1%
Other taxes, 4%

Franchise taxes, 8%

Property taxes, 17%

Capital grants &
contributions, 1%

Operating grants &
contributions, 1%

Sales taxes, 54%
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Other, 6%
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The following table shows expenses and program revenues of the governmental activities for the
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Net Cost Of Governmental Activities

Total Cost Of Service Net Cost Of Service
2019 2018 2019 2018
General government $5,659,671 $5,841,114 ($5,472,788) ($5,579,074)
Community development and improvement 3,266,439 3,353,557 (3,266,439) (3,353,557)
Public works 7,611,046 7,162,689 (7,049,492) (5,132,619)
Culture and recreation 5,528,286 5,285,780 (2,778,121) (2,104,996)
Cemetery maintenance 58,292 46,984 (10,453) (14,280)
Public safety 12,953,549 12,614,311 (11,959,488) (10,504,896)
Interest on long-term debt 4,017,211 4,197,840 (4,017,211) (4,197,840)
Total $39.094,494 $38,502,275 ($34,553,992) ($30,887,262)

Expenses from governmental activities totaled $39,094,494; however, net costs of these
services were $34,553,992. The difference of $4.540 million represents direct revenues
received from charges for services ($3.564 million), operating grants and contributions ($0.415
million), and capital grants and contributions ($0.561 million). Taxes and other revenues in
the amount of $39,364,117 were collected to cover these net costs.

Business-Type Activities

Business-type activities increased the City’s net position by $2,712,936.

The Water Fund recorded an increase of $382,461 in the net position for the year. Revenues from
user fees were $5,798,660 and showed a decrease amount of $211,282 or -3.51%- in 2019. The City
implemented a 1.00% water rate increase at the beginning of 2019. In 2019, water usage was lower
primarily due to a wetter than average summer season when compared to previous summer
seasons. Operating expenses for 2019 were $5,756,799 which increased by $129,499 from 2018.
The increase is attributable to the City implementation of a 3% salary adjustment and other
compensation related items that impacted all Business-Type Funds.

Depreciation expense increased by $155,930 and is due to additional capital investment in the
system. The Water Fund’s operating income decreased by $188,005 in 2019.

Page 10



CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The Sewer Fund recorded an increase of $2,310,412 in net position for the year. Revenues
from user fees increased by $545,726 or 6.1% when compared to 2018 revenues. Operating
expenses showed an increase of $348,587 or 6%. The increase is attributable to the City
implementation of a 3% salary adjustment and other compensation related items that
impacted all Business-Type Funds.

Depreciation expense increased by $36,022; this will continue to increase primarily due to the
construction of the city owned Waste Water Treatment Facility that was completed in 2017.
Operating income for the Sewer Fund was a positive $3,368,113 at December 31, 2019, an increase
of $226,904 when compared to the total operating expenses earned in 2018.

Net position increased by $2,310,412 and is due to improved operations in the Sewer Fund. To
address future income generation, the City implemented a 5.64% sewer rate increase in 2019.

The Sanitation Fund recorded an increase in net position of $20,063 for 2019. Revenues of
$1,776,365 increased over the 2018 revenues of $1,702,340. Total Operating Expenses for 2019
increased $84,278 or 5% over expenses for 2018 and is in line with sanitation hauler contract
increases.

The following table reflects the revenues by source for the City’s business-type activities for the
year ended December 31, 2019:

Revenues By Source - Business-Type Activities

Other
1%

Charges for services

Investment earnings 94.85%

1%

Capital grants &
contributions
3%
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Total business-type activities’ revenue for fiscal year 2019 was $17,392,898 with charges for
services (98.2%) being the major revenue source. All revenue of $17,392,898, with the exception
of $498,840 received from investment earnings and $3,744 in Capital Contributions, was
generated for specific business-type activity expenses. In the previous year, revenue for
business-type activities was $16,801,888.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE GOVERNMENT’S FUNDS

Asnoted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements.

Governmental Funds

The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows
and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing
requirements. In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a
government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

As of December 31, 2019, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of
$27,819,536 reflecting a decrease of $641,713 from the previous year. This decrease is primarily
attributable to the construction of the animal shelter and parks projects within the Non Major
Governmental Funds both related to the 2018 Special Obligation Bonds paid for with revenues from
the Use Tax. Of this total, approximately 16% of this total amount $4,533,029 constitutes
unassigned fund balance, which is available for spending at the government’s discretion. The
remaining $23,286,507 of fund balance is as follows: (1) non-spendable ($1,328,443) which is
inventories, prepaid insurance and permanent fund principal and (2) restricted ($21,958,064).

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the current fiscal year,
unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $4,533,029 with total fund balance at
$5,277,437. Total fund balance increased by $664,842 over the previous fiscal year fund
balance. Revenues increased by $420,491 in 2019 and are primarily the result of increases in
Sales Tax, Use Tax collections and an increase in Miscellaneous Revenue. Expenditures
showed an increase of $1,208,673. Other financing sources showed an increase of $219,361
from the 2018 amount of $1,465,443. This is primarily due to an increase in the issuance of
long-term debt.

In 2019, the City saw an increase in sales tax/use tax revenues. This is primarily attributable to
the completion of the Liberty Commons retail center and the implementation of the voter approved
3.375% use tax.

As a measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to review the City's total fund
balance to total fund revenues. The ending Fund Balance for 2019 is calculated at 27% (rounded)
of total General Fund revenues.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The City recognizes the need for a fund balance that can adequately absorb any temporary
downturns in economic events so as to avoid changes and reductions in service levels. The City
revised its fiscal policy on fund balance in 2013. That policy established the requirement to
maintain its General Fund unassigned fund balance at 20% of revenues, with normal
fluctuations of said percentage to range from 18% to 22%. In 2019, the fund balance policy was
exceeded within the General Fund.

The Park Fund had a fund balance of $655,753 at December 31, 2019. This represents an
increase of $97,937 over the previous year fund balance. Revenues decreased by $118,053 or
3.2% and expenditures increased by $4,022,803 or 51.2% when compared to 2018. This is
primarily attributable to an increase in Capital Outlay in 2019. Those projects being the Use
Tax projects (park and community center improvements) and the Turf project at Capital
Federal Sports Complex. Total fund balance represents 18.7% (rounded) of 2019 revenues.
This exceeds the level required by policy of 12%. Transfers in from the Park Sales Tax Fund
for 2019 increased by $212,109. Of this amount, $49,000 is transferred to the General Fund to
help support Public Relations staff and IT services.

The Liberty TIF Fund has a fund balance of $9,335,576 at year end 2019, which is an increase
of $1,387,072 from the 2018 balance of $7,948,504. This increase in fund balance is the result
of an increase of revenues primarily attributable to the completion of Liberty Commons retail
center in 2019.

The Economic Development Sales Tax Fund had a fund balance of $1,999,178 at December 31,
2019. This sales tax is used to support economic development related projects and to pay debt
service costs attached to the Special/General Obligation Bond used to build infrastructure
projects related to SLP Phase II, Downtown Reconstruction projects and the Kansas Street/
M291 Project. Project expenditures that occurred in 2019 were $3,904,511, primarily
attributable to costs associated with the Kansas Street/M291 projected to be completed in early
2020. Based on the level of ongoing sales tax collections, it is believed this fund will continue
to be categorized as a major fund in future years.

Although the Capital and Transportation Sales Tax Funds were not categorized as major funds
in 2018, they both continue to be combined together with the Economic Development Sales Tax
Funds to provide the City with its Road Infrastructure Capital Improvement Plan. By policy,
the fund balance requirement for the CIP is to maintain at least a $1.0 million balance. In
2019, and on a combined basis, this policy level was exceeded.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
Proprietary Funds

The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide
financial statements, but in more detail.

Unrestricted net position of the Water Fund at the end of the year was $4,101,957. The Sewer
Fund showed an unrestricted net position of $10,045,220 this is primarily due to an increase of
Capital Assets and additions to debt related to the completion of the Waste Water Treatment
Facility, and the Sanitation Fund was a positive at $116,076. The increase in unrestricted net
position when compared to 2018 was $303,052 for the Water Fund, $764,442 for the Sewer Fund
and $20,063 for the Sanitation Fund representing a total unrestricted increase for the proprietary
funds of $1,087,557. For the year ended 2019, the ending net position totaled $60,039,498.

In the past, the Water and Sewer Funds did not meet bond requirements, which put demands on
the General Fund that would, if not addressed, impair future general governmental activities. In
2009, the City engaged a consulting firm to review the Water and Sewer Funds. The
consulting firm, together with the City Council Budget Committee, worked with staff on
fiscal matters concerning the Water and Sewer Funds. It was understood by Council and staff
that a five-step action program would be implemented starting in 2009 to correct these
operational problems. The stepsinclude:

Achieve 100% bond coverage

Secure funding for infrastructure rehabilitation backlog
Comply with 120% bond covenant requirement

Implement depreciation component in rates for needed repairs
Maintain 45-day reserve balance for emergencies

TUk o

This step approach has required a multi-year commitment by the City. Focus has been on
setting appropriate user rates and finding operating efficiencies to reduce expenses. In 2011, the
City met bond coverage requirements and started generating additional income for
infrastructure improvements. Since 2011, the City has implemented necessary user rate
increases and has maintained the necessary bond coverage requirements.

The City is responsible for water production and distribution. In 2019, the City implemented a
1.0% rate increase to its water user rates. In addition, the City maintained a flat $2.00 per
month “Infrastructure Improvement Maintenance Fee” that is billed to each customer. Even
though the city saw a more wetter than average summer, the city’s Operating Income
remained positive at $329,239 in 2019.

Sewer services reflect only collection of sewage. In April 2017, with the completion of the
Wastewater Treatment Facility, Liberty began operating its own treatment facility. This
allowed Liberty to budget expenses based on known debt service and operation treatment costs
rather than relying on the hard to predict rate increases that had been previously implemented
by the Cityof Kansas City, Missouri.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

To address increased costs, Liberty has increased its sewer user rates, as required. In 2019, the
City implemented a 5.64% increase. These actions generated $9,530,495 in operating revenues.
This reflects a $575,491 increase over 2018 results of $8,955,004. Total operating expenses were
$6,162,382 or $348,587 more than 2018 amounts of $5,813,795. This increase is primarily due to
Liberty’s ability to operate their own wastewater treatment facility. Kansas City, Missouri (KCMO)
will continue to treat about 144 houses for Liberty; specifically, houses located on the west side of
town. Liberty will continue to pay KCMO an estimated amount of $160,000 a year for these houses.
Net operating income for 2019 was $3,368,113.

The City contracts for its solid waste disposal and records those associated revenues and
expenses within the Sanitation Fund. As rates for that service have and will increase at
approximately 4% a year. In 2019, the City implemented a 4.3% rate increase in its Sanitation
user rates. The City believes this will allow future rate increase to closely parallel the cost of
service increase.

The output of this multi-year commitment has been positive as shown in the improvement of
the Proprietary Funds’ net position. In addition, and as indicated in the accompanying
footnotes, the City is able to report that required bond coverage levels were met in both the
Water Fund and Sewer Fund in 2019.

GENERALFUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

Differences between the final budget and 2019 actual can be summarized as follows:

In 2019, final expenditures for the General Fund were $20,408,047 representing a favorable
$358,575 variance from the final budget of $20,766,622. The major contributor to the favorable
variance is found in the public safety, in the amount of $494,658 and is primarily the result of
under-expenditures within City non-salary and capital accounts.

Actual revenue for the General Fund was $19,388,085 representing a favorable $558,215
variance from the final budget of $18,829,870. Taxes played as a major contributor to the
bottom line having a favorable variance of $512,346. This favorable variance is due to the Use
Tax favorable variance of $719,406. Although there is a favorable variance in 2019, franchise
fee taxes continue to see declines, specifically in Electric. Revenues from this franchise fee saw
a decrease of $0.124 million when comparing final 2019 budgets to 2019 actuals. This was
primarily due to a cooler than normal summer and a warmer than normal winter.
Additionally, Engineering Services had a favorable balance of $114,640 and are primarily due
to Right-of-Way Permits for fiber lines being installed all over town.

Other financing sources closed out at $1,684,804. With the 2019 budget set at $1,599,270 an
unfavorable variance of $33,972. This is primarily due to the bond proceeds and Insurance
Settlement received in 2019.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Required Statutory Disclosure

State law requires the City to annually calculate the percentage of its general revenue that
comes from traffic violations. In the current year, the City has reported fines of $319,079
which includes traffic violations and other additional items. This amount is approximately
1.6% of total general revenues of $19,388,085 and, accordingly, the City believes that they are
in compliance with the requirements of the statute.

CAPITALASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION
Capital Assets

The City’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of
December 31, 2019 amounts to $224,946,327 (net of accumulated depreciation). This
investment in capital assets includes land, construction-in-progress, buildings and systems,
improvements other than buildings, wastewater treatment plant, vehicles, machinery and
equipment, and infrastructure. The total increase in the City’s investment in capital assets for
the current fiscal year was $4.6 million or an increase of 2.08%. Capital assets for
governmental activities increased by $6.03 million and those for business- type activities
decreased by $1.44 million.

Major capital assets purchased during the current fiscal year included the following:
e Police Vehicles and Equipment - $0.275 million

e Capital Federal Sport Complex - Turf Project Above and Below Ground - $4.845 million
e City wide computer equipment - $0.465 million
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

City Of Liberty’s Capital Assets

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Land $ 2,020,148 $ 2,020,148 $ 1,340,677 $ 840,677 $ 3,360,825 $§ 2,860,825
Construction-in-progress 8,466,006 31,484,656 2,316,029 1,521,895 10,782,035 33,006,551
Buildings and system 17,153,404 14,940,037 10,535,683 10,535,683 27,689,087 25,475,720
Vehicles 8,671,639 8,555,838 2,757,289 2,648,518 11,428,928 11,204,356
Improvements other than buildings 18,241,363 13,076,322 199,443 199,443 18,440,806 13,275,765
Wastewater treatment plant - - 78,380,060 78,336,254 78,380,060 78,336,254
Machinery and equipment 15,240,523 13,837,159 13,596,976 12,760,062 28,837,499 26,597,221
Infrastructure 84,689,033 58,617,034 64,068,212 63,900,998 148,757,245 122,518,032
Accumulated depreciation (567,997,104) (52,078,470) (44,733,054) (40,838,706) (102,730,158) (92,917,176)
Total $ 96,485,012 $ 90,452,724 $ 128,461,315 $ 129,904,824 $ 224,946,327 $ 220,357,548

These capital assets are funded by traditional bond financing, special obligation bonds, lease
purchases, impact fees and user charges. Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be
found in Note 3 of this report.

Long-TermDebt

At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had total debt outstanding of $189,118,056. Of this
amount, $19,625,000 comprises debt backed by the full faith and credit of the government. Please
note: The City plans to pay the debt on these general obligation bonds through capital, economic
development and transportation sales tax sources and does not expect to issue any property tax
debt levies. The remainder of the City’s debt represents bonds secured solely by specified revenue
sources (i.e., revenue bonds).

City Of Liberty’s Outstanding Debt, General
Obligation And Revenue Bonds

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Special obligation bonds $ 34,808,850 $ 31,977,146 $ 4,431,150 $ 4,502,854 $ 39,240,000 $ 36,480,000
Capital leases 1,599,632 2,351,062 50,424 139,272 1,650,056 2,490,334
General obligation bonds 19,625,000 20,840,000 - - 19,625,000 20,840,000
TIF bonds 47,730,000 49,500,000 - - 47,730,000 49,500,000
SRF bonds - - 78,103,000 80,004,000 78,103,000 80,004,000
Revenue bonds - - 2,770,000 3,540,000 2,770,000 3,540,000
Total $ 103,763,482 $ 104,668,208 $ 85,354,574 $ 88,186,126 $ 189,118,056 $ 192,854,334

During the current fiscal year, the City’s total debt decreased by $3,736,278 or 2.0%. This
decrease is primarily due to the payoff of 2015 TIF Debt. In 2019, the total debt within the City’s
governmental activities saw a net decrease of $904,726. This decrease is primarily due to the pay
down of special obligation debt and TIF Debt. Additional information on the City’s long-term
debt can be found in Note 4 of this report.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

ECONOMIC FACTORS, NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET AND RATES

Based on 2019 end-of-year activity, it was anticipated that 2020 General Fund revenues
would show stability and was conservatively budgeted at the amount of $21,005,079.
However, with the unprecedented times we are living in regarding the COVID-19 pandemic,
city staff began reviewing all revenues and after much consideration proposed an adjusted
budget of $19,281,490. This amount is reflective of an overall decrease of $1.72 million from
the adopted budgeted for 2020. City staff continues to review and monitor all revenues on a
monthly basis. Staff believes that forecasted revenues within the General Fund will close
out closer to $19,749,952 by end of year. This projected end of year forecast is still about 6%
lower than what was initially budgeted for 2020.

Property taxes for 2020 are budgeted at $4,440,725 or $99,346 higher than 2019 actual
revenues. The City Council established the 2019 general levy rate at $0.8921 per $100
assessed valuation, which is lower than the 2018 rate of 0.9648. This rate will be applied to
a higher 2019 assessed valuation to produce a slight increase of current 2019 revenue over
that earned in 2018. Valuations for 2019 were calculated to be $573,949,384 or $57,904,422
higher than 2018.

Sales tax revenue is budgeted at $5,144,638, slightly below the budget for 2019 and due to
decreased sales tax revenues and decreased revenue from motor vehicle sales during the COVID-
19 pandemic. Use Tax revenues are projected to be $2,000,000 which is lower compared to 2019
final revenues of $2,069,576. Franchise fees have been budgeted at $3,027,810 for 2020, a
decrease of $339,153 from 2019 final. The decrease in Franchise fees is primarily due to a
decrease in Cell phone revenue, and decreased cable franchise fees. The budgeted amounts for
Electrical Franchise fees are based on an anticipated normal summer temperature event,
however with the COVID-19 pandemic, revenues may not come in as projected due to large
factories such as Ford not fully operating during the pandemic. Electrical Franchise fee revenue
is anticipated to remain level at $2.0 million. Due to decrease in ambulance transports during
the COVID-19 pandemic, revenues for Emergency Services are projected to remain relatively flat
for 2020 at $2.4 million. Court Fines and Forfeitures are projected at $0.256, which is a decrease
of $110,853 when compared to 2019 actuals.

Initial General Fund expenditures and transfers were projected to total $20,961,861 compared to
the 2019 close-out of $20,283,022. This represents a $0.679 million increase from 2019 actuals.
The COVID-19 adjusted expense budget had been set at $20,781,970. In March of 2020,
departments were asked to make cuts and limit their spending on all capital for 2020. Overall,
departments cut $179,892 from what was initially budgeted for 2020. Employee salary and fringe
benefit costs are budgeted at $488,389 higher than 2019 actuals for a 2020 total of $16,588,461.

This is due to the City providing a 3% salary adjustment and anticipated increases in health
insurance costs and does reflect full City staffing for the entire year. It is also important to note
that this number includes additional Police and Fire personnel and fringe benefit costs. These
costs are offset from a deduction from the Public Safety Sales Tax Fund.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

For 2020, it is estimated that $2,094,984 be deducted from the General Fund salary and benefit
costs to cover the additional Police and Fire staff. Non-salary expenditures increased less than
1% in the 2020 budget due to anticipated small increases for minor computer equipment
purchases and funding for further development support expenditures. Capital acquisitions
within the General Fund are budgeted at $1,891,399. This reflects anticipated expenditures for
City computer equipment and replacement of Police vehicles.

Based on programmed actions for 2020, the City anticipates a balanced General Fund
budget, with fund balance being maintained within policy ranges. The City does expect to
dip into fund balance reserves to help any revenue losses that may occur due to the COVID-
19 pandemic. The City will continue to react to ongoing changes in the local economy and
respond accordingly.

All improvements described earlier in this communication have been maintained and
expanded in 2020. User rates were increased in both the Water and Sewer Funds. Water
rates were increased by 1.0% and sewer rates were adjusted upward by 5.64% and sanitation
rates were increased by 4.2%.

The 2020 Park Department budget was developed with no expansion of services in mind.
Although property taxes have stayed relatively flat, sales tax revenues are anticipated to
increase. With the revenues received from the voter approved Use Tax, the Parks will enjoy
some much needed upgrades and enhancements to many of their neighborhood parks and
community center. The Use tax is projected to bring in $1.35 million in revenue for 2019.
The Parks Department has also been hit hard with the COVID-19 pandemic, with the
Community Center unable to open and operate, it is estimated that the Parks department
will endure a $528,936 decrease in revenue that is typically generated through user fees
related to the Community Center and Capital Federal Sports Complex. Staff will continue to
monitor their budgets for any potential issues that may arise.

All of these factors were considered in preparing the City’s budget for the 2020 fiscal year.

REQUESTS FORINFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances for all those
with an interest in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information
provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to:
Dan Estes, Assistant City Administrator/Finance Director, City of Liberty, P.O. Box 159,
Liberty, Missouri 64069.

Page 19



Basic Financial Statements




CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

December 31, 2019

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and investments $ 15,223,410 15,521,783 30,745,193
Receivables:
Taxes 12,350,242 — 12,350,242
Special assessments — 284 284
Accounts 1,141,154 2,316,697 3,457,851
Accrued interest 47,527 148,994 196,521
Due from other governments 73,204 — 73,204
Inventory 35,258 199,690 234,948
Prepaid expenses 843,036 188,943 1,031,979
Restricted assets:
Cash and investments 8,339,092 — 8,339,092
Accrued interest 2,109 — 2,109
Total Current Assets 38,055,032 18,376,391 56,431,423
Noncurrent Assets
Restricted assets:
Investments 1,058,199 2,775,578 3,833,777
Capital assets:
Nondepreciable:
Land 2,020,148 1,340,677 3,360,825
Construction in progress 8,466,006 2,316,029 10,782,035
Depreciable:
Buildings and system 17,153,404 10,535,683 27,689,087
Improvements other than buildings 18,241,363 199,443 18,440,806
Vehicles 8,671,639 2,757,289 11,428,928
Machinery and equipment 15,240,523 13,596,976 28,837,499
Wastewater treatment plant — 78,380,060 78,380,060
Infrastructure 84,689,033 64,068,212 148,757,245
Less: Accumulated depreciation (57,997,104) (44,733,054) (102,730,158)
Total Noncurrent Assets 97,543,211 131,236,893 228,780,104
Total Assets 135,598,243 149,613,284 285,211,527
Deferred Outflows Of Resources
Pensions 2,879,430 400,947 3,280,377
Other post-employment benefits 144,248 — 144,248
Deferred loss on refunding 235,109 — 235,109
Total Assets And Deferred
Outflows Of Resources $ 138,857,030 150,014,231 $ 288,871,261

See the accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
December 31, 2019

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,668,440 $ 2,834,115 $ 5,502,555
Deposits 560,225 — 560,225
Compensated absences 694,156 124,214 818,370
Accrued interest payable 680,242 600,515 1,280,757
Unearned revenue 186,896 9,387 196,283
Current maturities of long-term debt 6,021,660 2,908,418 8,930,078
Total Current Liabilities 10,811,619 6,476,649 17,288,268
Noncurrent Liabilities
Compensated absences 1,347,480 241,121 1,588,601
Net pension liability 6,220,158 442 933 6,663,091
Total other post-employment benefit
liability 608,156 — 608,156
Unearned revenue 509,571 — 509,571
Long-term debt 98,779,658 82,551,085 181,330,743
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 107,465,023 83,235,139 190,700,162
Total Liabilities 118,276,642 89,711,788 207,988,430
Deferred Inflows Of Resources
Pensions 1,247,191 262,945 1,510,136
Other post-employment benefits 83,606 — 83,606
Property tax 7,678,188 — 7,678,188
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 46,617,054 43,001,812 89,618,866
Restricted for:
Expendable:
Debt service 5,363,795 2,639,117 8,002,912
Parks 1,631,524 — 1,631,524
Cemetery 13,946 — 13,946
Kansas City sewer line — 135,316 135,316
Nonexpendable:
Cemetery trust corpus 450,149 — 450,149
Unrestricted (42,405,065) 14,263,253 (28,141,812)
Total Net Position 11,671,403 60,039,498 71,710,901
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows Of
Resources and Net Position 138,857,030 $ 150,014,231 $ 288,871,261

See the accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For The Year Ended December 31, 2019

Program Revenues

Net (Expense) Revenue

And Changes In Net Position

Primary Government

Charges For Operating Capital Business-
Services And Grants And Grants And Governmental Type
Functions/Programs Expenses Sales Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
Primary Government
Governmental Activities
General government $ 5,659,671 $ — $ 186,883 $ — $ (5,472,788) — (5,472,788)
Community development and improvement 3,266,439 — — — (3,266,439) — (3,266,439)
Public works 7,611,046 — — 561,554 (7,049,492) — (7,049,492)
Culture and recreation 5,528,286 2,534,943 215,222 — (2,778,121) — (2,778,121)
Cemetery maintenance 58,292 47,839 — — (10,453) — (10,453)
Public safety 12,953,549 981,111 12,950 — (11,959,488) — (11,959,488)
Interest on long-term debt 4,017,211 — — — (4,017,211) — (4,017,211)
Total Governmental Activities 39,094,494 3,563,893 415,055 561,554 (34,553,992) — (34,553,992)
Business-Type Activities
Water 5,829,288 5,798,660 — — — (30,628) (30,628)
Sewer 7,593,886 9,497,811 — 3,744 — 1,907,669 1,907,669
Sanitation 1,759,372 1,776,363 — — — 16,991 16,991
Total Business-Type Activities 15,182,546 17,072,834 — 3,744 — 1,894,032 1,894,032
Total Primary Government $ 54,277,040 $ 20,636,727 $ 415,055 $ 565,298 (34,553,992) 1,894,032 (32,659,960)
General Revenues
Taxes:
Property tax 7,406,240 — 7,406,240
Franchise taxes 3,366,963 — 3,366,963
Sales and use taxes 23,895,616 — 23,895,616
Other taxes 1,594,749 — 1,594,749
Investment income 574,788 498,840 1,073,628
Miscellaneous 2,525,761 320,064 2,845,825
Total General Revenues 39,364,117 818,904 40,183,021
Change In Net Position 4,810,125 2,712,936 7,523,061
Net Position - Beginning Of Year 6,861,278 57,326,562 64,187,840
Net Position - End Of Year $ 11,671,403 $ 60,039,498 $ 71,710,901
See the accompanying notes to basic financial statements. Page 22



CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
December 31, 2019

Economic Nonmajor
Liberty Devel Gover: al
General Parks TIF Sales Tax Funds Total
Assets
Cash and investments $ 3,523,553 $ 960,195 $ 929,915 $ 1,811,911 $ 7,997,836 $ 15,223,410
Receivables
Taxes 6,403,893 805,839 3,257,641 402,956 1,711,829 12,582,158
Accounts 904,106 67,373 — — 271,825 1,243,304
Accrued interest 12,627 2,116 — 3,622 29,162 47,527
Allowance for uncollectible receivables (299,326) (34,740) — — — (334,066)
Due from other funds — 155 — — 2,121 2,276
Due from other governments 4,898 — — — 68,306 73,204
Inventory 35,258 — — — — 35,258
Prepaids 709,150 108,687 — 1,290 23,909 843,036
Restricted assets:
Cash and investments — 7,949,997 — 389,095 8,339,092
Investments — — — 1,058,199 1,058,199
Accrued interest — — — — 2,109 2,109
Total Assets $ 11,294,159 $ 1,909,625 $ 12,137,553 $ 2,219,779 $ 11,554,391 $ 39,115,507
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 1,242,626 $ 473,063 $ 18,321 $ 193,247 $ 741,183 $ 2,668,440
Deposits 155,001 285,380 27,354 92,490 560,225
Due to other funds — — — — 2,276 2,276
Unearned revenue — 20,046 — — 166,850 186,896
Total Liabilities 1,397,627 493,109 303,701 220,601 1,002,799 3,417,837
Deferred Inflows Of Resources
Charges for services 299,946 — — — — 299,946
Property taxes 4,319,149 760,763 2,498,276 — — 7,578,188
Total Deferred Inflows Of Resources 4,619,095 760,763 2,498,276 — — 7,878,134
Fund Balances
Nonspendable:
Inventory 35,258 — — — 35,258
Prepaids 709,150 108,687 — 1,290 23,909 843,036
Permanent fund principal — — — — 450,149 450,149
Restricted for:
Parks and recreation — 547,066 — — 1,200,762 1,747,828
Capital projects — — 1,997,888 4,357,199 6,355,087
Transportation projects — — — 879,790 879,790
Public safety — — — — 3,431,977 3,431,977
Debt service — 9,335,576 — — 9,335,576
Cemetery — — — 13,946 13,946
Law enforcement — — — 30,272 30,272
Other purposes — — — 163,588 163,588
Unassigned 4,533,029 — — — — 4,533,029
Total Fund Balances 5,277,437 655,753 9,335,576 1,999,178 10,551,592 27,819,536
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows Of
Resources And Fund Balances $ 11,294,159 $ 1,909,625 $ 12,137,553 $ 2,219,779 $ 11,554,391 $ 39,115,507

See the accompanying notes to basic financial statements. Page 23



CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

RECONCILIATION OF TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES
TO NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

December 31, 2019

Total Fund Balance - Governmental Funds $ 27,819,536

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are
different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Land 2,020,148
Construction in progress 8,466,006
Buildings and system 17,153,404
Improvements other than buildings 18,241,363
Vehicles 8,671,639
Machinery and equipment 15,240,523
Infrastructure 84,689,033
Accumulated depreciation (567,997,104)

Some of the City's revenues will be collected after year end, are not available to
pay for current period expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the fund
statements. 299,946

Deferred inflows and outflows of resources in the governmental activities related
to pensions, other post-employment benefits, and deferred loss on refunding
are not recorded in the fund statements. 1,927,990

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds:

Current:
Compensated absences (694,156)
Accrued interest payable (680,242)
Capital lease obligations (424,098)
General obligations, special obligation, TIF bonds (5,597,562)
Noncurrent:
Compensated absences (1,347,480)
Net pension liability (6,220,158)
Other post-employment benefits (608,156)
Unearned revenue (509,571)
Bond discounts 216,226
Bond premium (1,254,062)
Capital lease obligations (1,175,534)
General obligations, special obligation, TIF bonds (96,566,288)
Total Net Position - Governmental Activities $ 11,671,403

See the accompanying notes to basic financial statements. Page 24



CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For The Year Ended December 31, 2019
Economic Nonmajor
Liberty Development Governmental
General Parks TIF Sales Tax Funds Total
Revenues
Taxes $ 15,855,927 764,771 3 7,727,991 $ 2,053,450 $ 9,861,429 $ 36,263,568
Intergovernmental 511,957 — — — 395,680 907,637
Charges for services 1,912,670 2,534,943 — — 70,453 4,518,066
Licenses and permits 484,067 — — — — 484,067
Investment earnings 120,926 20,871 132,625 15,198 285,168 574,788
Miscellaneous 502,538 180,352 16,307 1,523,902 302,662 2,525,761
Total Revenues 19,388,085 3,500,937 7,876,923 3,592,550 10,915,392 45,273,887
Expenditures
Current:
General government 4,707,334 — 15,835 252,150 340,270 5,315,589
Community development and improvement 795,438 — 2,277,792 — 82,175 3,155,405
Public works 2,911,421 — 43,084 18,871 877,030 3,850,406
Culture and recreation 355,628 4,060,075 — — 155,248 4,570,951
Cemetery maintenance — — — — 58,292 58,292
Public safety 9,991,157 — — — 2,154,353 12,145,510
Capital outlay 344,583 4,063,672 — 1,473,077 6,186,008 12,067,340
Debt service:
Principal retirement 986,779 22,445 1,855,000 1,265,322 1,620,180 5,749,726
Interest and fiscal charges 297,758 366 2,298,140 895,091 461,298 3,952,653
Bond issuance costs 17,949 98,894 — — — 116,843
Total Expenditures 20,408,047 8,245,452 6,489,851 3,904,511 11,934,854 50,982,715
Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (1,019,962) (4,744,515) 1,387,072 (311,961) (1,019,462) (5,708,828)
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Issuance of long-term debt 740,000 4,105,000 — — — 4,845,000
Premium on bond issue 51,562 101,581 — — — 153,143
Insurance recoveries 68,972 — — — — 68,972
Transfers in 872,020 684,871 — 1,037,709 322,509 2,917,109
Transfers out (47,750) (49,000) — — (2,820,359) (2,917,109)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1,684,804 4,842,452 — 1,037,709 (2,497,850) 5,067,115
Net Change In Fund Balances 664,842 97,937 1,387,072 725,748 (3,517,312) (641,713)
Fund Balances - Beginning Of Year 4,612,595 557,816 7,948,504 1,273,430 14,068,904 28,461,249
Fund Balances - End Of Year $ 5,277,437 655,753 $ 9,335,576 $ 1,999,178 $ 10,551,592 $ 27,819,536

See the accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

Page 25



CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For The Year Ended December 31, 2019

Net Change In Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds $

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful
lives and reported as depreciation expense. The following is the detail of the amount
by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the current year:

Capital outlay

Depreciation

Loss on disposal of capital assets

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial
resources are not reported as revenues in the funds
Change in deferred inflows of resources

Change in unearned revenue
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of

current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in
governmental funds:
Changes in compensated absences
Change in accrued interest payable
Change in deferred inflow and outflow - pensions and other
post-employment benefits
Changes in net pension liability and other post-employment benefits liability

Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but issuing
debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. Repayment of
bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment
reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position:

Principal payments on long-term debt

Issuance of long-term debt, including premium/discount

Amortization of bond premium and discounts

Amortization of deferred loss on refunding

(641,713)

12,067,340
(6,030,366)
(4,686)

(1,444,054)
20,429

45,690
7,727

729,635
(772,318)

5,749,726

(4,998,143)
115,212
(34,354)

Change In Net Position Of Governmental Activities $

4,810,125

See the accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
ENTERPRISE FUNDS
December 31, 2019

Sanitation
Water Sewer (Nonmajor) Total
Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and investments $ 4,614,808 $ 10,769,856 $ 137,119 $ 15,521,783
Receivables:
Special assessments — 284 — 284
Accounts 644,018 1,551,002 121,677 2,316,697
Accrued interest 17,127 131,433 434 148,994
Inventory 189,574 10,116 — 199,690
Prepaids 91,039 97,282 622 188,943
Total Current Assets 5,556,566 12,559,973 259,852 18,376,391
Noncurrent Assets:
Restricted assets, cash and investments 555,243 2,220,335 — 2,775,578
Capital assets:
Land 795,677 545,000 — 1,340,677
Construction in progress 916,479 1,399,550 — 2,316,029
Buildings and systems 9,284,872 1,250,811 — 10,535,683
Improvements other than buildings 148,416 51,027 — 199,443
Vehicles 1,527,140 1,230,149 — 2,757,289
Machinery and equipment 8,994,347 4,602,629 — 13,596,976
Wastewater treatment plant — 78,380,060 — 78,380,060
Infrastructure 33,318,424 30,749,788 — 64,068,212
Accumulated depreciation (25,568,730) (19,164,324) — (44,733,054)
Total Noncurrent Assets 29,971,868 101,265,025 — 131,236,893
Total Assets 35,528,434 113,824,998 259,852 149,613,284
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pensions 195,139 201,483 4,325 400,947
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 195,139 201,483 4,325 400,947
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources $ 35,723,673 $ 114,026,481 $ 264,177 $ 150,014,231
Liabilities
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 1,102,213 $ 1,593,788 $ 138,114 $ 2,834,115
Compensated absences 67,190 56,217 807 124,214
Accrued interest payable 6,370 594,145 — 600,515
Unearned revenue — 9,387 — 9,387
Current maturities of long-term debt 588,559 2,319,859 — 2,908,418
Total Current Liabilities 1,764,332 4,573,396 138,921 6,476,649
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Compensated absences 130,428 109,127 1,566 241,121
Net pension liability 215,573 222,582 4,778 442,933
Long-term debt 2,158,807 80,392,278 — 82,551,085
Total Liabilities 4,269,140 85,297,383 145,265 89,711,788
Deferred Inflows Of Resources
Pensions 127,974 132,135 2,836 262,945
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 26,669,259 16,332,553 — 43,001,812
Restricted for:
Debt service 555,243 2,083,874 — 2,639,117
Kansas City sewer line — 135,316 — 135,316
Unrestricted 4,101,957 10,045,220 116,076 14,263,253
Total Net Position 31,326,459 28,596,963 116,076 60,039,498
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows Of
Resources and Net Position $ 35,723,573 $ 114,026,481 $ 264,177 $ 150,014,231

See the accompanying notes to basic financial statements. Page 27



CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

ENTERPRISE FUNDS
For The Year Ended December 31, 2019

Water Sewer Total
Operating Revenues
Charges for services 5,798,660 9,497,811 17,072,834
Miscellaneous 287,378 32,684 320,064
Total Operating Revenues 6,086,038 9,530,495 17,392,898
Operating Expenses
Pumping and treatment 2,080,536 1,654,556 3,735,092
Distribution and transmission 1,438,151 1,205,116 2,643,267
General and administrative 790,883 855,591 1,647,739
Sanitation — — 1,758,107
Depreciation 1,447,229 2,447,119 3,894,348
Total Operating Expenses 5,756,799 6,162,382 13,678,553
Operating Income 329,239 3,368,113 3,714,345
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment earnings 125,711 370,059 498,840
Interest expense (73,744) (1,431,504) (1,505,248)
Other 1,255 — 1,255
Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 53,222 (1,061,445) (1,005,153)
Income Before Capital Contributions 382,461 2,306,668 2,709,192
Capital Contributions — 3,744 3,744
Change in Net Position 382,461 2,310,412 2,712,936
Net Position - Beginning of Year 30,943,998 26,286,551 57,326,562
Net Position - End of Year $ 31,326,459 $ 28,596,963 $ 60,039,498
See the accompanying notes to basic financial statements. Page 28



CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ENTERPRISE FUNDS
For The Year Ended December 31, 2019

Sanitation
Water Sewer (Nonmajor) Total
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers and users $ 5,879,786 $ 9,331,307 $ 1,768,569 $ 16,979,662
Payment to suppliers (2,381,805) (2,058,092) (1,723,593) (6,163,490)
Payments to employees (1,875,493) (1,797,905) (33,557) (3,706,955)
Other receipts 287,378 32,684 2 320,064
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 1,909,866 5,507,994 11,421 7,429,281
Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Purchase of capital assets (952,120) (1,498,719) — (2,450,839)
Interest payments (97,818) (1,394,761) — (1,492,579)
Principal payments on debt (545,259) (2,286,293) — (2,831,552)
Net Cash Used in Capital and Related Financing Activities (1,595,197) (5,179,773) — (6,774,970)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest and dividends received 125,711 370,059 3,070 498,840
Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 440,380 698,280 14,491 1,153,151
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 4,729,671 12,291,911 122,628 17,144,210
Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year $ 5,170,051 $ 12,990,191 §$ 137,119 $ 18,297,361
Components of Cash and Cash Equivalents
Unrestricted $ 4,614,808 $ 10,769,856 $ 137,119 $ 15,521,783
Restricted 555,243 2,220,335 — 2,775,578
$ 5,170,051 $ 12,990,191 $ 137,119 $ 18,297,361
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:
Operating income $ 329,239 $ 3,368,113 §$ 16,993 $ 3,714,345
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Depreciation 1,447,229 2,447,119 — 3,894,348
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables 81,126 (166,504) (7,794) (93,172)
Inventory and other prepayments (38,711) (13,367) (265) (52,343)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 87,835 (129,361) 3,634 (37,892)
Deferred outflows of resources - pensions (11,368) (32,442) (426) (44,236)
Deferred inflows of resources - pensions (30,106) (13,274) (518) (43,898)
Net pension liability 43,798 64,575 1,133 109,506
Compensated absences 824 (16,865) (1,336) (17,377)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 1,909,866 $ 5,507,994 $ 11,421 $ 7,429,281
Noncash Investing and Financing Transactions
Capital contributions $ — % 3,744 $ — 8 3,744

See the accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

Page 29



CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
AGENCY FUNDS
December 31, 2019

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Special assessments receivable

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to other entities

459,538

483,206

942,744

69,747
872,997

942,744

See the accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

Page 30



CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019

Summary Of Significant Accounting Policies

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies employed in the preparation of
these financial statements.

Nature Of Operations

The City of Liberty, Missouri (the City), was incorporated in 1829 and covers an area of
approximately 29 square miles in the northeast threshold of the Kansas City region.
The City is a Special Charter City that operates under the Mayor-Council-Administrator
form of government. The City provides services to its residents in many areas,
including law enforcement, fire protection, water and sewer services, community
enrichment and development and various social services.

Reporting Entity

In accordance with the Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting
Standards (the Codification), the basic financial statements include all funds,
organizations, agencies, boards, commissions and authorities for which the City is
financially accountable. The City has also considered all other potential organizations for
which the nature and significance of their relationships with the City are such that
exclusion would cause the City’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. The
Governmental Accounting Standards Board has set forth criteria to be considered in
determining financial accountability. These criteria include appointing a majority of an
organization’s governing body, and (1) the ability of the City to impose its will on that
organization or (2) the potential for that organization to provide specific benefits to or
impose specific financial burdens on the City. Based on these criteria, the City is
presented as a primary government and is financially accountable for the Liberty,
Missouri Public Facilities Authority (PFA), a blended component unit.

Liberty, Missouri Public Facilities Authority (PFA): The PFA, a not-for-profit corporation,
was incorporated under the laws of the State of Missouri. The PFA was established to
acquire and construct facilities within the City, which are approved by the City Council for
the benefit of the City and its citizens.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Notes To Basic Financial Statements (Continued)

The Board of Directors of the PFA i1s comprised of seven members, five of which are
approved by the City Council. The Mayor and Park Board President also serve as
members of the board. The activities of the PFA include the financing through issuance
of bonds and the construction of various facilities. The PFA has entered into a 20-year
lease, renewable annually, for the Community Center. The City has an option to buy
this facility once the bonds are retired. Financial information for the PFA is recorded
in the PFA Construction Fund (a capital projects fund). Although it is legally separate
from the City, the PFA is reported as if it were part of the primary government
because its sole purpose is to finance and construct facilities for the City.

Separately issued financial statements are not prepared for the PFA. The PFA has a
December 31 year-end.

Government-wide and fund financial statements: The government-wide financial
statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report
information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the City. For the most part, the effect
of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. Interfund services
provided and used are not eliminated from these statements. Governmental activities,
which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported
separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and
charges for support.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given
function are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly
identifiable with a specific function. Program revenuesinclude: 1) charges to customers
or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges
provided by a given function and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function. Taxes and
other items not included among program revenues are reported as general revenues.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds
and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide
financial statements. The focus of fund financial statements is on major funds.
Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are
reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. Nonmajor funds are
aggregated and presented in a single column.

Fund accounting: The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of
which is considered to be a separate accounting entity. The operations of each fund are
accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts, which comprise its
assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, fund balance/net position, revenues and expenditures or expenses, as
appropriate. The City has the following funds:
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Notes To Basic Financial Statements (Continued)

Governmental Fund Types: Governmental fund types are those funds through which
most governmental functions typically are financed. Governmental fund reporting focuses
on the sources, uses and balances of current financial resources. Expendable assets are
assigned to the various governmental funds according to the purposes for which they may or
must be used; current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which they are paid; and the
difference between the sum of governmental fund assets and deferred outflows of resources
and the sum of liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, the fund equity, is referred to as
“fund balance.” The measurement focus is upon determination of changes in financial
position, rather than upon net income determination. The following are the City’s major
governmental funds:

General Fund: The General Fund is the government’s primary operating fund. It
accounts for all financial resources of the general government, except those required to
be accounted for in another fund.

Parks Fund: Thisfundis a special revenue fund used to account for the maintenance and
improvement of all City park facilities and the development and supervision of various
recreation programs. Itis funded primarily through charges for recreation programs.

Liberty TIF Fund: This fund is a capital projects fund. The Liberty TIF Fund was
established to track the redevelopment of land between I-35, M-291 and 152 Hwy, I-35 and
M-291 at A Hwy, and development along South Liberty Parkway. Various bonds have
been issued between 2004 and 2018 to finance redevelopment project expenses through
payments in lieu of taxes and economic activity taxes. These bonds will be paid from
tax increment financing of increased revenue from both payments in lieu of taxes and
economic activity taxes.

Economic Development Sales Tax: This fund was established in 2015 to account for
the economic development, including costs related to construction of South Liberty
Parkway Phase II and Downtown infrastructure rehabilitation, and which may include
the retirement of financing obligations incurred for any such authorized purposes. It is
funded by a 3/8 cent sales tax approved by voters in August 2014 and expires on
March 31, 2035.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Notes To Basic Financial Statements (Continued)

The other governmental funds of the City are considered nonmajor and are as follows:

Special Revenue Funds: These funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific
revenue sources (other than certain capital projects that are legally restricted to
expenditures for specific projects).

Cemetery Fund: This fund is used for general maintenance of the municipal cemeteries.
Revenues are derived from the sale of lots, burial permits and contributions from
nonexpendable cemetery trust funds generated by investment earnings.

Police Training Fund: This fund reflects the revenue earned from the $2 charge added
to each moving violation issued by the Police Department. By law, the revenues must be
used to finance the training of Police Department personnel.

Inmate Security Fund: This fund reports the two dollars assessed for the inmate
security fund. Funds deposited shall be used for the maintenance of biometric
verification system to properly identify and track inmates and to pay for all expenses
related to custody and housing for inmates.

Transient Guest Tax Fund: This fund is used for tourism, including the marketing of
festivals. It is funded by the transient guest tax.

Public Safety Sales Tax Fund: This fund reports the City’s public safety sales tax revenue
and provides funding for Police and Fire personnel.

Capital Projects Funds: These funds are used to account for all resources used in the
acquisition and construction of capital facilities and other capital assets, with the
exception of those that are financed through proprietary funds.

Limited Capital Fund: This fund is established for certain general fund capital projects
whose project timeline is non-repetitive and limited in time scope.

Capital Sales Tax Fund: This fund is used to account for general government
construction bond projects and capital expenditures within the City. The City deposits
the % cent capital improvement sales tax and applicable bond proceeds into this fund
for these projects.

Transportation Sales Tax Fund: This fund was established in 2001 to account for the
construction of new roads required by development growth. It is funded by a
transportation sales tax. In November 2008, citizens voted to increase this tax from a
quarter cent to a half cent, which will sunset in December 2030.

Fire Sales Tax Fund: This fund was established in 2001 to account for the operating and
capital needs of the fire department. It is funded by a 1/4 cent sales tax approved by
voters in August 2000.

Parks Capital Fund: This fund is used to account for the operating and capital needs of
the parks system. It is funded by the 1/4 cent park sales tax approved by voters in
August 2000.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Notes To Basic Financial Statements (Continued)

Cable Reserve Fund: This fund was established to maintain and purchase capital
equipment for the cable system. It is funded by a pass-through fee from the cable
franchise holder.

Permanent Funds: These are used to report resources that are legally restricted to the
extent that only earnings, and not principal, may be used to support programs of the City.

Fairview Cemetery Trust Fund: To account for trust funds given to the City for the
development and maintenance of the City’s Fairview Cemetery. The principal is
nonexpendable. Interest on trust funds invested is transferred to the Cemetery Fund and
used for maintenance of the cemetery.

Frank Hughes Memorial Trust Fund: This fund is similar to the Cemetery Trust funds
in that the principal is nonexpendable. Interest on the trust funds invested is
transferred to the Parks Maintenance Fund to be used for maintenance and
repairs to the Frank Hughes Library.

Mt. Memorial Cemetery Trust Fund: This fund is similar to the Fairview Cemetery Trust
Fund, except that it is for the benefit of the City’s Mt. Memorial Cemetery.

Proprietary Fund Types: Proprietary fund types are used to account for a government’s
ongoing organizations and activities, which are similar to those often found in the private
sector. The measurement focus is upon income determination, financial position and
cash flows.

Enterprise Funds: These are used to account for those operations that are financed and
operated in a manner similar to private business or where the City has decided that the
determination of revenues earned, costs incurred and/or net income is necessary for
management accountability.

The following are the City’s major enterprise funds:

Water Fund: Accounts for the cost of production, treatment and distribution of water
throughout the City. Revenues are derived from charges to customers.

Sewer Fund: Accounts for cost of collection and treatment of wastewater. Effective
August 1998, the City’s system was connected with the Kansas City, Missouri sewage
system. Effective October 2017, the City’s wastewater treatment plant was in-service
and the flows treated by the City of Kansas City, Missouri were significantly reduced.
Revenues are derived from charges to customers.

The other enterprise fund of the City is considered nonmajor and is as follows:

Sanitation Fund: Accounts for administering the contractual agreements with a trash
hauler for the proper collection of trash and garbage throughout the City and its disposition.

Page 35



CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Notes To Basic Financial Statements (Continued)

Fiduciary Fund Types: Fiduciary fund types are used to account for assets held by a
governmental unit in a trustee capacity or as an agent for individuals, private organizations,
other governmental units and/or other funds. Agency funds are custodial in nature and
do not involve the measurement of results of operations. Agency funds apply the accrual
basis of accounting; however, they do not have a measurement focus. The City has the
following fiduciary fund type:

Agency Funds: These are used to account for assets that the City holds for others in
an agency capacity. The City has the following agency funds:

Triangle CID Sales Tax Fund: To account for sales tax paid within the Community
Improvement District established as a separate entity that provides payment of the TTF debt.

Preservation and Development Fund: This fund is used to record the contributions
received by other entities for renovations of downtown and historic districts.

Roger’s Plaza CID Sales Fund: To account for sales tax paid within the Community
Improvement District established as a separate government entity that provides payment of
the TTF debt and improvements to the district.

Blue Jay Crossing CID Fund: To account for sales tax paid within the Community
Improvement District established as a separate government entity that provides payment of
the TIF debt and improvements to the district.

Liberty Corners CID: To account for sales tax paid within the Community Improvement
District established as a separate government entity that provides payment for
improvements to the district.

Liberty Commons CID: To account for sales tax paid within the Community
Improvement District established as a separate government entity that provides
payment for improvements to the district.

Liberty Commons TDD: To account for sales tax paid within the Community
Improvement District established as a separate government entity that provides
payment for improvements to the district.

Measurement Focus And Basis Of Accounting

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and
agency fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses
are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash
flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the following year for which they are
levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility
requirements imposed by the provider have been met.
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Notes To Basic Financial Statements (Continued)

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are
recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to
be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough
thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City
considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the
current fiscal period, with the exception of sales tax, which is 90 days. Expenditures
generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.
However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated
absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.

In applying the susceptible to accrual concept to intergovernmental revenues, the legal
and contractual requirements of the numerous individual programs are used as
guidance. There are, however, essentially two types of these revenues. In one,
monies must be expended on the specific purpose or project before any amounts will be
paid to the City; therefore, revenues are recognized based upon the expenditures
recorded and the availability criteria. In the other, monies are virtually
unrestricted as to purpose of expenditure and are usually revocable only for failure
to comply with prescribed requirements. These resources are reflected as revenues at
the time of receipt or earlier if the susceptible to accrual criteria are met.

Charges for sales and services (other than utility) and miscellaneous revenues are
generally recorded as revenue when received in cash because they are generally not
measurable until actually received. Investment earnings are recorded as earned
since they are measurable and available.

Property taxes are recognized as a receivable at the time they become an enforceable legal
claim. The current taxes receivable represent the 2019 levy plus any uncollected amounts
from the 2018 levy. Property taxes that are not available for current year operations are
shown as a deferred inflow. Property taxes are levied each year on all taxable real and
personal property in the City. The City’s property tax is levied each September 1 on the
assessed value as of the prior January 1. Property taxes are billed in total by November 1
following the levy date and considered delinquent after January 1. On January 1, a lien
attaches to all property for which taxes are unpaid.

Taxes receivable represent property, sales and franchise taxes, including interest and
penalties, reduced by an appropriate allowance for uncollectible taxes.

Amounts reported as program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants
for goods, services or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions and 3)
capital grants and contributions. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general
revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all
taxes.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Notes To Basic Financial Statements (Continued)

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing
and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.
The principal operating revenues of the City’s enterprise funds are charges to customers for
sales and services. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and
services, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

Cash And Investments

The City maintains a cash and investment pool to maximize investment opportunities.
Income from investments purchased with pooled cash is allocated to individual funds
based on the fund’s average cash balance and legal requirements. Each fund’s portion of
total cash and investments is reported as such within this report. In addition, certain
investments are separately held by several of the City’s funds. Investments are reported
at fair value. Securities traded on the national or international exchange are valued at the
last reported sales price at current exchange rates.

Statement Of Cash Flows

For purposes of the statement of cash flows for proprietary funds, all highly liquid
investments (including restricted assets) with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased are considered to be cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable And Unbilled Usage

Accounts receivable and unbilled usage results primarily from miscellaneous services
provided to citizens in the governmental funds. Water, sewer and sanitation services
are accounted for in the Water, Sewer and Sanitation Funds when billed. Unbilled
usage for service consumed between periodic scheduled billing dates is recognized as
revenue in the period in which service is provided. All are net of an allowance for
uncollectibles.

Inventory And Prepaids

Inventory consists of materials and supplies held for consumption and are stated at cost,
determined by the first-in, first-out method. Inventories of the governmental fund types
are accounted for under the consumption method. Certain payments to vendors reflect
costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items in
both government-wide and fund financial statements under the consumption method.

Capital Assets

Land, buildings, improvements, vehicles, machinery and equipment and infrastructure
are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the
government-wide and enterprise fund financial statements. Capital assets are defined by
the City as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and an initial useful
life of one year or greater. Such assets are recorded at historical cost if purchased or
constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated acquisition value at
the date of donation.
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CITY OF LIBERTY, MISSOURI

Notes To Basic Financial Statements (Continued)

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or
materially extend the life of the asset are not capitalized.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are

constructed. Interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of
business-type activities is included as part of the capitalized value of the assets
constructed.

Depreciation has been provided over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives for each capital asset type are as

follows:
Buildings and systems 20 - 50 years
Improvements other than buildings 20 years
Vehicles 3 - 15 years
Machinery and equipment 5 - 20 years
Wastewater treatment plant 50 years
Infrastructure 65 years

T